
CITY OF RAINIER
CASH ON HAND/GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION REPORT
CHECKING ACCOUNTS AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT POOL ACCOUNT
1/1/2024-1/31/2024

ACCOUNT REGISTER SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance 425,196.46

New Ending Balance 425,196.46 0.00 0.00 425,196.46

BANK STATEMENT SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-1 34,367.77
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-2 463,233.40
Deposits not Shown on Statement 7,198.90
Outstanding Cks and Other Debits 58,205.49
PERS Outstanding 21,398.12
PERS Adjustment
Ending Balance 497,601.17 79,603.61 7,198.90 425,196.46 0.00

LGIP STATEMENT SUMMARY
Beginning Balance 6,521,544.92
Deposits 13,288.66$       
Withdrawals 
Interest 27,656.52
S/C 0.05
Ending Balance 6,521,544.92 0.05 40,945.18 6,562,490.05

TOTAL CASH 6,987,686.51

GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION
1/1/2024-1/31/2024

01/01/24 01/31/24
Beginning Total Total Ending

Fund Balance Revenue Expense Liabilities Balance
10 General 3,796,793.22 219,099.15 180,863.11 3,835,029.26
20 Debt 23,283.62 0.00 8,371.00 14,912.62
30 Sewer 218,523.86 65,840.88 72,571.65 211,793.09
40 Water 211,332.32 66,666.43 62,641.02 215,357.73
50 Timber 1,599,424.81 0.00 365.60 1,599,059.21
60 Street 69,525.03 14,148.69 17,667.84 66,005.88
65 0.00 0.00 0.00
70 0.00 0.00 0.00
81 Special Projects 276,828.20 0.00 5,103.18 271,725.02
83 Sewer Capital 319,804.96 56,317.63 20,240.08 355,882.51
84 Water Capital 358,493.96 9,298.50 56,575.65 311,216.81
85 Transportation Capital 29,408.54 0.00 0.00 29,408.54
90 Library Trust 77,392.01 52.11 148.28 77,295.84

0.00
General Ledger Total 6,980,810.53 6,987,686.51 0.00  

  
Completed by:______ Date:_______ Approved by: ______ Date:________ 



City of Rainier
2023/2025 Budget Year
1/31/2024 Income/Expense
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 3,686,050 2,213,173 60.04%
**Expenditures 3,135,759 745,122 23.76%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,940,700 499,686 25.75%
Expenditures 2,217,829 578,497 26.08%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,816,000 551,616 30.38%
Expenditures 1,997,618 488,738 24.47%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Timber Fund YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 400,000 0 0.00%
Expenditures 442,063 30,835 6.98%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 518,300 94,032 18.14%
Expenditures 588,936 105,903 17.98%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Special Projects Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 659,099.00 0 0.00%
Expenditures 858,015.00 40,560 4.73%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Sewer Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,116,630.00 19,144 0.00%
Expenditures 1,448,990 687,997 47.48%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Water Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 610,800 1,840 0.00%
Expenditures 1,008,766 108,019 0.00%

2023/2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Transportation Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 370,000 0 0.00%
Expenditures 586,947 442,695 75.42%

*Excludes Beginning Balance
**Excludes Transfers



City of Rainier
2023/2025 Budget Year
1/31/2024
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds
Budget Variance by Appropriation

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 3,686,050 2,213,173 60.04%
Expenditures

10 **General Government 199,845 69,457 34.76%
20 City Building Maintenance 35,000 7,421 21.20%
30 Land Use & Development 67,351 18,967 28.16%
50 Library 156,422 40,752 26.05%
60 Attorney 20,000 4,165 20.83%
70 Finance & Administration 121,924 24,137 19.80%
80 Municipal Court 138,790 40,604 29.26%
90 Public Properties 324,823 79,021 24.33%

100 Police Department 2,071,604 460,598 22.23%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,940,700 499,686 25.75%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 992,316 272,867 27.50%
Material & Services 602,245 208,012 34.54%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 416,400 97,618 23.44%
Contingencies 206,868 0 0.00%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,816,000 551,616 30.38%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 1,067,944 293,451 27.48%
Material & Services 470,295 125,951 26.78%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 238,800 69,336 29.04%
Contingencies 220,579 0 0.00%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Timber Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 400,000 0 0.00%
Expenditures
Material & Services 209,745 30,835 14.70%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Contingencies 36,000 0 0.00%
Propery Purchase Reserve 196,318 0 0.00%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 518,300 94,032 18.14%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 139,091 43,618 31.36%
Material & Services 279,845 62,285 22.26%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Contingencies 70,000 0 0.00%
Transfers 100,000 0 0.00%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Special Projects Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 659,099.00 0 0.00%
Expenditures
Capital Outlay 858,015 40,560 4.73%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Sewer Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,116,630 19,144 1.71%
Expenditures
Capital Outlay 1,448,990 687,997 47.48%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Water Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 610,800 1,840 0.30%
Expenditures
Capital Outlay 1,008,766 108,019 10.71%

2023-2025 1/31/2024 1/31/2024
Transportation Capital Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 370,000 0 0.00%
Expenditures
Capital Outlay 586,947 442,695 75.42%

*Excludes Beginning Balance 
**Excludes Transfers



 

1 
 

 

City of Rainier 

City Council Meeting 

March 4, 2024 

6 p.m. 

Rainier City Hall 

 

Mayor Jerry Cole called the council meeting to order at 6 p.m.  

 

Council Present: Connie Budge, Robert duPlessis, Jeremy Howell, Mike Kreger, Paul 

Langner and Denise Watson 

 

Council Absent: Scott Cooper 

 

City Attorney Present: No 

 

City Staff Present: W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator; Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder; 

Gregg Griffith, Police Chief 

 

Flag Salute 

 

Additions/Deletions from the Agenda: There were no additions or deletions at this time. 

 

Mayor’s Address: Mayor Jerry Cole said that the city was featured in a recent Oregonian 

article. He was pleased with how it turned out.  

 

Visitor Comments: Candis Forrest said she had concerns about the budget. City Administrator 

W. Scott Jorgensen said the budget is based on projections. The Budget Committee will be 

reconvened in a few weeks to do a mid-biennial adjustment.  

 

Approval of the Consent Agenda 

Consider Approval of the February 5, 2024 Regular Council Meeting Minutes and Financial 

Statements—Councilor Paul Langner moved to approve the consent agenda. That motion was 

seconded by Council President Mike Kreger and adopted unanimously.  

 

New Business 

a. Interim Public Works Director Appointment—Cole said the previous interim director,  

Pat McCoy, had other opportunities elsewhere. The City had to find another interim 

director. Russ Reigel interviewed and applied for it. There is an immediate need. Cole 

convened the public works council liaisons and they interviewed Reigel. Councilor 

Jeremy Howell said Reigel has a good work history, has been in Rainier for a long time 

and wants to stay here. Councilor Robert duPlessis said he spoke with Reigel about his 

experience and was impressed. Reigel has done much project management and he’s 

level-headed. That’s what the City needs at this time. duPlessis moved to appoint 

Reigel as the interim public works director. That motion was seconded by Kreger. 

There was a discussion about having Reigel and members of the public works staff 

obtain water and wastewater certifications. Reigel said he’s open to training and has 

spent the last 10 years managing projects and overseeing multi-million dollar contracts, 

including budgets and timeframes. Kreger said he’s worked beside Reigel. He stepped 



 

2 
 

into difficult situations, handled them well and is a problem solver. The motion passed 

unanimously.  

b. Timber Sale Discussion—Jorgensen said that McCoy was ill and unable to make it to  

the meeting. But he’s spoken with him about the timber sale. The City decided against 

doing a sale last year because the market was bad and it’s even worse now. There are 

several timber mills all over Oregon that have closed in recent weeks. The 

recommendation is that the council does not do a timber sale and wait to see if the 

market improves over the next year. Council agreed by consensus.  

c. Library Board Appointment—Councilor Connie Budge moved to appoint Erika 

Ladage to the library board. That motion was seconded by Howell and adopted 

unanimously.  

 d.  Appointment of Councilor Paul Langner to Col-Pac Board of Directors and Col-Pac  

     Loan Administration Board—Kreger moved to appoint Langner to those boards. That   

     motion was seconded by Howell and adopted unanimously, with Langner abstaining.  

e. Nuisance Abatement at 422 West C Street—Police Chief Gregg Griffith said the police  

department followed the process set forth in city ordinance. A letter was sent to the 

property owner, a citation was issue, calls were made and no response was received by 

the department. Jorgensen said that the property owner did not show up for a scheduled 

court appearance to address the citation. A couple of councilors have been complaining 

about the nuisance. The City will not incur much cost for the cleanup. Public works 

would just have to haul the garbage to the dump. Kreger moved to declare the property 

a nuisance. That motion was seconded by duPlessis and adopted unanimously.  

f. Legislative Update—Jorgensen said that the Legislature is passing two main bills. The  

first is Senate Bill 1537 and that deals with housing issues. The second is House Bill 

4002, which is the fix to Measure 110.   

g. Planning Update—Jorgensen said that Winterbrook Planning has signed a contract with   

the Department of Land Conservation and Development to begin the urban growth 

boundary (UGB) land exchange process. A residential buildable land inventory is 

scheduled for April, then there will be an alternatives analysis that will include a memo 

on the feasibility of extending public facilities to areas currently within the UGB. Work 

sessions with the planning commission and council would take place in August or 

September, with hearings to take place in early fall. The last step of the process would 

be hearings with the county planning commission and board of commissioners in 

November or December.  

h. Senior Center Expansion—Jorgensen explained that the City would have to take the 

lead on permitting the project and would need architectural drawings to obtain that. 

He’s spoken with Lower Columbia Engineering about what it would take to make it 

happen. Cole said he would like to see a more specific request, including dollar amount, 

and which line item it would be used to fund it. Jorgensen said he would obtain that 

information and bring it back to the next council meeting.  

 

     Unfinished Business 

          a. Second Reading of Ordinance 1095—Adding a New Chapter to Rainier Municipal Code  

    (RMC) Title 18, Division V Regarding Accessory Dwelling Units, Amending RMC  

    Section 18.05.100, Chapters 18.15, 18.20 and 18.25 and Repealing RMC Section  

    18.25.100—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance. That motion was seconded by  

    Budge and adopted unanimously.  

          b. Second Reading of Ordinance 1096—Street Vacation for a Portion of Hickory Street  

              Between View Street and Old Rainier Road—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance.  

              That motion was seconded by Langner and adopted unanimously, with Budge abstaining.  



 

3 
 

          c. Second Reading of Ordinance 1097—Street Vacation for the 20-Foot Alley Lying Within  

              Block 39, Plat of Unit “C” in West Rainier—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance.  

              That motion was seconded by Councilor Denise Watson and adopted unanimously.  

d. Fox Creek Update—Jorgensen said he applied for $1.8 million in federal grant funding  

for the design work and environmental permitting for the project.  

 

     Staff Report—Griffith said that Officer Mark Nielsen has started at the police academy and  

     will be back in June.  

    Council Reports—Langner said he attended the council of governments meeting. There was a  

    discussion there about having regular bus service from Rainier to Longview. Budge promoted  

    the library’s upcoming murder mystery event and attended the first meeting of the writing group.    

     City Calendar/Announcements—The council goal setting session is scheduled for Monday,   

     March 18 at 5 p.m. at the senior center.  

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Cole adjourned the meeting at 7:13 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

       

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 

Mayor Jerry Cole                         W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

1 
 

 

City of Rainier 

City Council Goal Setting Work Session 

March 18, 2024 

5 p.m. 

Rainier Senior Center 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:19 p.m.  

 

Council Present: Connie Budge, Scott Cooper, Jeremy Howell, Mike Kreger, Paul Langner 

and Denise Watson 

 

Council Absent: Robert duPlessis 

 

City Attorney Present: No 

 

City Staff Present: Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder; Gregg Griffith, Police Chief; W. Scott 

Jorgensen, City Administrator; Russ Reigel, Public Works Director  

 

Flag Salute 

 

2023 Year in Review—City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen gave a review of steps the 

council took to achieve its goals last year and the ordinances it passed.  

Collaborative Projects Status Update--Jorgensen provided an update on several       

collaborative projects the city is working on with other state and federal agencies, including   

Fox Creek and Veterans Way. 

 

Review of 2023 Council Goals—Jorgensen went over the council’s goals from 2023. 

Public Works Priority Projects—Public Works Director Russ Reigel said that the park 

bathrooms should be repaired soon. He expects the docks to be fixed by the end of March and 

is looking at having the county’s work crew help out with landscaping maintenance around the 

city.  

2024 Council and City Committee Goals—Jan Rich said she would like to finish the Senior 

Center expansion. Jorgensen read into the record the goals submitted by Councilor Robert 

duPlessis, who was unable to attend. They include DEQ compliance, inflow and infiltration 

repairs, city hall repairs, completing road projects funded by Small City Allotment (SCA) 

grants, examining water and wastewater components such as life cycles, spares, lead times and 

risk, having a full police staff, more traffic patrols and a sixth officer position, finishing the 

city hall break room, having AEDs available at city hall, new park restrooms, lighting for the 

riverfront trail, replacing the water fountain and plaque on A Street, pedestrian safety 

improvements on Veterans Way and getting the city reservoir online. Councilor Scott Cooper 

said he would like to look into having wi-fi available for all city residents. Library Board Chair 

Marcia Roberts said that body plans to work on a five-year plan and a mission statement, 

grants, reviewing and revising its policies, duties and responsibilities, doing a self-evaluation, 

changing the duties of the chair to include being a community liaison, documenting volunteer 

hours, organizing the library collection by genre, forming a friends group, increasing 

partnerships with the senior center, having more speakers, classes and a writers group, 

examining the most productive use of the space, having more activities for children and men 



 

2 
 

and book deliveries for the homebound. She noted that there has been a 33 percent increase in 

patronage since Allen Snider took over as library director. Mayor Jerry Cole said his goals are 

DEQ compliance, fixing inflow and infiltration issues, finishing the SCA grant project, getting 

more training for public works staff, reviewing purchasing policies and procedures, the break 

room for administrative staff, Veterans Way and getting the reservoir online. Councilor Connie 

Budge wants to formalize the council liaison system and review the charter and agreements for 

compliance. Cooper listed Veterans Way as a priority, along with reviewing park projects and 

the availability of public works staff to carry them out. Cole said he would like to see a friends 

of the park group and a dog park. Budge would like to have a community garden. Councilor 

Paul Langner said the city should consider having a three cent per gallon gas tax to fund street 

improvements and paint the obelisk at its entrance blue in honor of Ralph Painter. Councilor 

Jeremy Howell said he wants to see Veterans Way fixed and look into having a building official 

and better code enforcement from the county. Councilor Denise Watson said she would like to 

review the county permitting process. Cole said he wants to see regular bus service between 

Rainer and Longview.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Cole adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

       

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 

Mayor Jerry Cole                         W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 









E2C Corp
presents

City of Rainer, OR
Event Business 

Proposal



Who Is E2C Corporation?

E2C, Corp. has a long history in event development, implementation and execution. We 

have developed inspired and designed successful gatherings for the past 45 years. Events 

have ranged from the Computer & Technology Showcase in over 20 markets which was 

sold in its 11th year,  to family friendly activities like Reindeer Village and Kids Camps. The 

CIO Summit became an established international event that was sold after 3 years with 

participants that boasted the largest oil companies to public sector CIO’s in major cities.

Most recently The NW Food & Wine Festival in Portland was sold after 10 years of 

success.  After 6 years E2C, Corp. sold Echo Expo a successful start up event decorating 

company that supplied pipe and drape and all event services in major convention centers 

to a major convention decorating company. This company resided in Orlando Florida, a 

major hub of event activity. Echo Expo provided major military events like the AFC4A and 

many others with exceptional service.  This successful startup allowed for E2C, Corp 

principals to engage in all aspects of event logistics and learn the intimate details of 

every aspect of management within the industry.  Currently E2C, Corp.  also owns and 

manages the Award Winning 44th Annual Monterey Wine Festival. This festival is the 

longest running multi day festival in the United States within the wine industry.  E2C, 

Corp has engaged in many small projects and events. To name just two Cats at Cold 

Creek, a unique gourmet jazz music event series that showcases gourmet food, incredible 

world class music with fine wines and the International Tequila Festival, a small gathering 

for connoisseurs of fine sipping tequila had guests waiting for the next series. E2C, Corp. 

has also consulted for various restaurants including local Portland establishments like Le 

Chon and Kimpton Riverplace Hotel.  

E2C, Corp. is uniquely qualified to create and maintain successful events.  In 2013 the 

City Council made the bold move to reorganize the tourism program for the City of St. 

Helens, Or and E2C, Corp. became the onsite and hands on tourism consultant and 

catalyst for what tourism is today. Since that time the City of St. Helens, has been using 

their expertise in creating new and sustainable events that are beneficial in a multitude 

of ways. From small Air BnB introductions to major events like Spirit of Halloweentown  

and now branded worldwide E2C, Corp continues to create additional benefits for 

tourism.



STARTING 
SOMETHING 
GOOD
2024

Bring people 
together.
Increase 
livability in your 
community.
Family Friendly 
& FREE.

 





Mitigate Risk and Reap the 
Rewards with E2C Corporation

How does the business plan work?

City of Rainer, OR Agrees to:

• Provide area within City of Rainer, OR on river or as 

appropriate based on specific event execution required 

and available within the City of Rainer, OR. 

• Provide adequate storage of any assets needed for 

implementation of approved event. E.g. Staging

• Provide city work force to place agreed upon structures 

or staging. Example – music stage.

• Assist as necessary for information, placement, and 

cleanup of public or rental facilities and garbage.

• City of Rainer social media and available promotion 

vehicles utilized as applicable. Cost to implement by staff 

is reimbursable upon agreed media.



E2C Corp agrees to:

1) Produce, operate, and execute all approved events by City of Rainer, OR including 

Rivertime in Rainer, OR a summer music series. 

2) Pay all expenses related to the production and execution of Rivertime in Rainer, OR, 

and any other approved and agreed upon event specific to the City of Rainer, OR.

3) Pay all expenses relating to building leases and utilities.

4) Pay all bills relating to garbage and temporary facilities relating to event production.

5) Pay all event staffing excluding activities related to information and timeframes that 

are necessary for permits and execution meetings by city staff.

6) Invite community involvement as applicable as fund raisers.

7) Continue to explore new events and bring tourism dollars to Rainer, OR. E2C

 8) Corp would be responsible for all expenses resulting from execution of any new 

projects or events unless an agreed upon change is in writing. 

9) Provide necessary insurance for events listening City of Rainer as additional insured.

10) Future revenue donations create ancillary income for the City of Rainer, OR. Up to 

20% of gross proceeds are possible with successful concerts.

11) City of Rainer OR may receive donations of tourism assets from E2C Corp annually.

12) Operate and manage all vendors, sponsors and participants in events managed by 

E2C Corp.

13) Procure all appropriate insurances and licenses as it pertains to events managed by 

E2C Corp.



























































































































































































   

SL Environmental Consulting, LLC 
 

LETTER AGREEMENT 
 2023 City of Rainier, Oregon   

 
December 18, 2023 
 
 
Jerry Cole 
Mayor 
PO Box 100 
Rainier, OR 97048 
 
Dear Mayor Cole: 
 
SL Environmental Consulting, LLC would like to present this proposal to provide technical 

assistance and facility oversight for interim coverage to comply with the State of Oregon. For 

convenience, this proposal is presented in a form that can be accepted and signed as an agreement 

between SL Environmental Consulting, LLC, Inc. and the City of Rainier, Oregon. 

 
 
SCOPE of SERVICES 

 

SL Environmental Consulting understands the City of Rainier is required by the State of Oregon to 

have a certified operator in responsible charge of the Wastewater Treatment Plant. The operator must 

hold a current certification of a Wastewater Treatment Grade III or above. 

 

The City is required to have a certified operator as a Level II with a Filter Endorsement for the Water 

Treatment Plant, OHA No. 00689. 

 

The City of Rainier operates the Wastewater Treatment Plant under NPDES Permit #OR0020389.  

 

The facility is operating under a Mutual Agreement and Order with DEQ and has had substantial 

non-compliance issues due primarily to high influent flows from inflow and infiltration.  

understands the operation due to the existing condition of the facility may result in non-compliance 

until the system is returned to standard conditions.  The City agrees to hold SL Environmental 

Consulting harmless in the event of a non-compliance associated with the current plant condition. 

 

This proposal is to provided direction, training, and oversight for the existing facilities and to 

provide technical assistance to bring the plant into compliance with the MAO. SL Environmental 

Consulting will provide oversight of the plant and monitoring required for the reporting 

requirements for the State of Oregon. 

 

The City of Rainier will manage the day-to-day operations of the system and perform all necessary 

tasks under the direction of the consultant for the operation and maintenance of the system.  

 

A list of roles and responsibilities will be developed with the Public Works Director and 

Water/Wastewater operator within the first month of the contract to ensure the overall needs of the 

City’s Water and Wastewater Treatment Plants will be met.  

 



 

The consultant is expected to be onsite for a minimum of 4 hours a week with additional time spent 

completing reports, emails and other communications.   

 

The consultant will be available 24 hours a day and able to respond within 4 hours of an emergency. 

 

 

The agreement will be in effect from January 1, 2024 to March 31, 2024.  This contract may 

be renewed for 3 additional months or may be terminated for any reason by either party 

with a thirty (30) day written notice. 
 
 
COST 
 
Up to 8 hours a week with a minimum of 4 hours onsite is expected. Weekly compensation for 8 
hours is $1000.  Any time over 8 hours will be charged at an hourly rate of $125.00 per hours.  

 
 

ACCEPTANCE 
 
To accept this proposal, please sign and date two copies and return one copy to SL Environmental 

Consulting, LLC prior to December 31, 2023. We look forward to the opportunity to perform the 

work for you.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
SL Environmental Consulting, LLC   City of Rainier 
 
   Sue Lawrence                                        ______________________________ 
Printed Name     Printed Name     

  
   President                                                ________Mayor____                       _ 
Title      Title 
 
_______________________________   ______________________________ 
Signature      Signature 
 
                                                                   ______________________________ 
Date      Date 
 
SL Environmental Consulting, LLC 

  EIN:  20-4472984 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

PAGE  1  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 

BEFORE THE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF OREGON 

IN THE MATTER OF: ) MUTUAL AGREEMENT
) AND ORDER

CITY OF RAINIER ) NO. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044
Permittee.  ) COLUMBIA COUNTY

)

WHEREAS: 

1. On August 1, 2012, the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) issued

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Waste Discharge Permit Number 

102571 (the Permit) to the City of Rainier (Permittee). The Permit authorizes the Permittee to 

construct, install, modify or operate a wastewater treatment control and disposal facility (Facility 

or Facilities) and discharge adequately treated wastewaters into the Columbia River, a water of 

the state, in conformance with the requirements, limitations and conditions set forth in the 

Permit. The Permit expired on July 31, 2017, but has been administratively extended because 

Permittee made a timely application for renewal. 

2. Condition 1 of Schedule A of the Permit requires Permittee to meet the following

waste discharge limitations: 

a. Outfall Number 001 (May 1 – October 31):

AVERAGE EFFLUENT 
CONCENTRATIONS EFFLUENT LOADINGS 

Parameter Monthly Weekly 

Monthly
Average 
lbs/day 

Weekly
Average 
lbs/day 

Daily
Maximum 

Lbs 

BOD 10 mg/L 15 mg/L 83 130 170 

TSS 10 mg/L 15 mg/L 83 130 170 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  1  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

 
     b. Outfall Number 001 (November 1 – April 30): 
  

 
AVERAGE EFFLUENT 
CONCENTRATIONS 

  
 

EFFLUENT LOADINGS 

 

Parameter 

 

Monthly 

 

Weekly 

 Monthly 
Average 
lbs/day  

Weekly 
Average 
lbs/day 

Daily 
Maximum 

Lbs 

BOD 10 mg/L 15 mg/L  130 190 250 

TSS 10 mg/L 15 mg/L  130 190 250 
  

 3. Permittee has violated the Permit as follows:  

October 28, 2021 The reported daily maximum BOD 

loading of 260 lb/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 53% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

October 2021 The reported weekly average BOD 

loading of 149 lbs/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 14% 

This is a Class III violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(3)(b) 

October 2021 The reported weekly average BOD 

concentration of 19 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 26%. 

This is Class II violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(2)(a) 

October 2021 The reported monthly average TSS 

loading of 866 lbs/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 904% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

October 28, 2021 The reported daily maximum TSS of 6256 

lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 357% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

October 2021 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 113 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 1030% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  2  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

October 2021 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 3281 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

2423% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

October 2021 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 388 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 2486% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

October 2021 The reported monthly average TSS 

removal efficiency of 84% was below the 

permit limit by 1% 

This is a Class III violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(3)(c) 

November 2021 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 15 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 50% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

November 2021 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 23 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 53% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

December 20, 

2021 

The reported daily maximum TSS loading 

of 250 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

<1% 

This is a Class III violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(3)(b) 

December 2021 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 13 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 30% 

This is a Class II violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(2)(a) 

December 2021 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 203 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

6% 

This is a Class III violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(3)(b) 

December 2021 The reported weekly average TSS This is a Class I violation pursuant to 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  3  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

concentration of 27 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 80% 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

January 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

loading of 158 lbs/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 21% 

This is a Class II violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(2)(a) 

January 4, 2022 The reported daily maximum TSS loading 

of 554 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

121% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

January 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 16 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 50% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

January 2022 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 546 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

187% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

January 2022 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 46 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 206% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

March 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

loading of 146 lbs/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 12% 

This is a Class III violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(3)(b) 

March 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 29 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 190% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

March 2, 2022 The reported daily maximum TSS loading 

of 377 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  4  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

50% 

March 2022 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 261 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

37% 

This is a Class II violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(2)(a) 

March 2022 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 42 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 180% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

April 2022 The reported daily maximum TSS loading 

of 616 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

146% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

April 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 34 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 240% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

April 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

loading of 190 lbs/d exceeds the permit 

limit by 46% 

This is Class II violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(2)(a) 

April 2022 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 59.0 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 293% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

April 2022 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 435.0 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

129% 

This is a Class I violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k) 

November 3, 

2022 

The reported daily maximum TSS loading 

of 2351 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

840% 

This is a Class 1 violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k). However, the 

cause of the violation was determined to 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  5  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

be beyond the permittee’s reasonable 

control, so this violation was not 

included in the civil penalty calculation. 

November 2022 The reported weekly average TSS loading 

of 949 lbs/d exceeds the permit limit by 

399% 

This is a Class 1 violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k). However, the 

cause of the violation was determined to 

be beyond the permittee’s reasonable 

control, so this violation was not 

included in the civil penalty calculation. 

November 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 300.9 lbs/d exceeds the 

permit limit by 131% 

This is a Class 1 violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k). However, the 

cause of the violation was determined to 

be beyond the permittee’s reasonable 

control, so this violation was not 

included in the civil penalty calculation. 

November 2022 The reported weekly average TSS 

concentration of 202 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 1247% 

This is a Class 1 violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k). However, the 

cause of the violation was determined to 

be beyond the permittee’s reasonable 

control, so this violation was not 

included in the civil penalty calculation. 

November 2022 The reported monthly average TSS 

concentration of 68 mg/L exceeds the 

permit limit by 580% 

This is a Class 1 violation pursuant to 

OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k). However, the 

cause of the violation was determined to 

be beyond the permittee’s reasonable 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  6  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

control, so this violation was not 

included in the civil penalty calculation. 

 4. On April 11, 2022, a sanitary sewer overflow (SSO) event occurred at a manhole 

located at West 3rd and A Street. During the event, approximately 121,900 gallons of untreated 

wastewater mixed with stormwater was discharged to the Columbia River. OAR 340-041-

0009(3) prohibits the discharge of untreated sewage into the waters of the State. This is a Class I 

violation of ORS 468B.025(1)(b) which prohibits any person from discharging any wastes into 

the waters of the State if the discharge reduces the quality of such waters below established water 

quality standards.  

 5. From November 4, 2022, through November 6, 2022, an SSO event occurred at a 

manhole located at East 3rd and A Street. During the event, approximately 715,219 gallons of 

untreated wastewater mixed with stormwater was discharged to the Columbia River. OAR 340-

041-0009(3) prohibits the discharge of untreated sewage into the waters of the State. This is a 

Class I violation of ORS 468B.025(1)(b) which prohibits any person from discharging any 

wastes into the waters of the State if the discharge reduces the quality of such waters below 

established water quality standards. 

 6.  On November 30, 2022, an SSO event occurred at a Constructed Overflow on East 

3rd and A Street. During the event, approximately 270,719 gallons untreated wastewater mixed 

with stormwater was discharged to the Columbia River. OAR 340-041-0009(3) prohibits the 

discharge of untreated sewage into the waters of the State. This is a Class I violation of ORS 

468B.025(1)(b) which prohibits any person from discharging any wastes into the waters of the 

State if the discharge reduces the quality of such waters below established water quality 

standards. 

 7.  DEQ and Permittee recognize that until new or modified Facilities are constructed 

and put into full operation, Permittee may continue to violate the permit effluent limitations 

listed in Paragraphs 2a. and 2b. at times and may discharge raw sewage to waters of the state 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  7  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

from a sanitary sewer overflow caused by the system being overwhelmed by stormwater.   

 8. DEQ and Permittee recognize that the Environmental Quality Commission has the 

authority to impose a civil penalty and to issue an abatement order for violations of the Permit. 

Therefore, pursuant to ORS 183.417(3), DEQ and Permittee settle the past violations referred to 

in Paragraphs 3–6 by this Mutual Agreement and Order (MAO). 

 9. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency appropriately delegated the federal 

NPDES permitting program to DEQ, making DEQ the primary administrator and enforcer of 

NPDES permits. This MAO furthers the goals of the NPDES permitting program by ensuring 

progress towards compliance and is consistent with DEQ's goal of protecting human health and 

the environment. However, DEQ and Permittee recognize that this MAO does not eliminate the 

possibility of additional enforcement of Permit requirements by the U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency or citizens under the federal citizen suit provisions. 

 10. This MAO is not intended to limit, in any way, DEQ's right to proceed against 

Permittee in any forum for any past or future violations not expressly settled herein. 

II. FINAL ORDER 

 11. The Environmental Quality Commission hereby enters a final order: 

  A. Requiring Permittee to comply with the following conditions and corrective 

action schedule: 

Task Due Date 

1. Wastewater System Planning, Permitting and Funding:  

a. Complete and submit to DEQ for review an evaluation of 

the storm water impacts from Conrad Forest Products.  

January 31, 2023 

2. Collection System:  

a. Complete additional field investigations and submit to 

DEQ a report with maps showing the investigation 

September 30, 2023 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  8  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

findings and proposed initial peak flow reduction projects.  

3. Wastewater Treatment System:  

a.  Complete Initial Wastewater Treatment Plant Flow and 

Load Capacity Evaluations and submit preliminary 

findings to DEQ for review. 

April 30, 2023 

b. Interim Treatment Plant Improvements:  

i. Submit a proposed interim improvements plan and 

schedule to DEQ for review and comment.  

September 30, 2023 

ii. Revise the interim improvements plan and schedule 

consistent with DEQ’s comments. 

Within 30 days of the 

completion of DEQ’s 

review 

iii. Complete interim improvements  September 30, 2024 

4. Wastewater Master Plan (Combined Collection and 

Treatment) 

 

a. Complete and submit to DEQ for review and comment a 

Wastewater Master Plan. 

March 31, 2024 

b. Revise the Wastewater Master Plan consistent with 

DEQ’s comments. 

Within 30 days of the 

completion of DEQ’s 

review. 

c. Obtain all necessary project approvals and funding  June 30, 2024 

5. Wastewater System Design and Construction  

a. Complete design and obtain DEQ approval for Collection 

System and WWTP projects.  

June 30, 2025 

b. Complete construction of collection system and WWTP 

upgrades. 

June 30, 2027 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  9  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

B. Requiring Permittee to continue to meet the effluent limitations set forth in 

the Permit; except at any point prior to June 30, 2027, when influent flow exceeds the Peak 

Instantaneous Flow design capacity of the Facility (2.77 MGD) for a 1-hour period on any day, 

Permittee must not exceed: 

a. 45 mg/L TSS Daily Maximum when the 24-hour composite tests end 

within 48 hours after a flow event of 2.77 MGD average for a 1-hour 

period. 

b. 30mg/L TSS Weekly Average for those weeks when one or more tests 

ended within 48 hours after a flow event of 2.77 MGD average for a 1-

hour period.  

c. 580 lb TSS/day when the 24-hour composite tests end during the next 

48 hours. 

d. 490 lb TSS/day Weekly Average for weeks when one or more tests 

ended within 48 hours after a flow event of 2.77 MGD average for a 1-

hour period.  

C. Requiring Permittee, upon receipt of a written Penalty Demand Notice from 

DEQ, to pay the following civil penalties: 

a. $600 per day, per violation of the corrective action schedule set forth in 

Paragraph 11.A. 

b. For exceedance of the interim effluent limits in Paragraph 11.B.: 

1. $300 for any exceedance of 50% or more of the limit, 

2. $150 for any exceedance of 20% or more, but less than 50% of the 

limit, and  

3. $50 for any exceedance of less than 20% of the limit. 

c. $2,400 per SSO event caused by the system being overwhelmed by 

stormwater. 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  10  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

D. Requiring Permittee to pay a civil penalty of $52,650 for the violations listed 

in Paragraphs 3–6 above. The determination of the civil penalty is attached as Attachments A 

and B.  

a. In accordance with DEQ’s Internal Management Directive on 

Supplemental Environmental Projects (SEPs), DEQ agrees to mitigate the $52,650 civil penalty 

to $10,530 and Respondent agrees to satisfactorily complete the approved SEP proposal as set 

forth in Attachment C and incorporated by reference. Respondent agrees to refrain from using 

the value of the SEP as a tax deduction or as part of a tax credit application; and, whenever 

Respondent publicizes the SEP or the results of the SEP, Respondent will state in a prominent 

manner that the project was undertaken as settlement of a DEQ enforcement action. Respondent 

will be deemed to have completed the SEP when DEQ receives a Final SEP Report verifying that 

the project, as described in the approved SEP, has been completed. The Final SEP Report must 

include a detailed description of the project’s expenses, copies of relevant receipts, an 

explanation of measurable results, and a certification that the SEP is complete as described in the 

report.  

F.  Requiring Respondent to submit the Final SEP Report by December 31, 

2023, otherwise the remaining civil penalty ($42,120) is due and owing to DEQ on December 

31, 2023. 

G. Requiring Respondent to pay the civil penalty set forth in Paragraph 11.D 

above via check or money order payable to "Department of Environmental Quality" and sent to 

the DEQ, Revenue Section, 700 NE Multnomah Street, Suite 600, Portland, Oregon 97232.     

 12. If any event occurs that is beyond Permittee's reasonable control and that causes or 

may cause a delay or deviation in performance of the requirements of this MAO, Permittee shall 

immediately notify DEQ verbally of the cause of delay or deviation and its anticipated duration, 

the measures that have been or will be taken to prevent or minimize the delay or deviation, and 

the timetable by which Permittee proposes to carry out such measures.  Permittee shall confirm 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  11  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

in writing this information within five (5) working days of the onset of the event. It is Permittee's 

responsibility in the written notification to demonstrate to DEQ's satisfaction that the delay or 

deviation has been or will be caused by circumstances beyond the control of and despite the due 

diligence of Permittee. If Permittee so demonstrates, DEQ shall extend times of performance of 

related activities under this MAO as appropriate. Circumstances or events beyond Permittee's 

control include, but are not limited to, acts of nature, unforeseen strikes, work stoppages, fires, 

explosion, riot, sabotage, or war. Increased cost of performance or a consultant's failure to 

provide timely reports are not considered circumstances beyond Permittee's control. 

 13.  Any violation of the Permit effluent limits referenced in Paragraph 2 above that do 

not exceed the interim limits established in Paragraph 11.B will be addressed per DEQ’s 

Enforcement Guidance Internal Management Directive in effect at the time of the violation.   

 14. Pursuant to OAR 340-012-0030(19) and OAR 340-012-0145(2), the violations cited 

in Paragraphs 3–6 of this MAO, will be treated as prior significant actions in the event a future 

violation occurs.  

 15. Permittee and DEQ hereby waive any and all of their rights to any and all notices, 

hearing, judicial review, and to service of a copy of the final order herein.  DEQ reserves the 

right to enforce this order through appropriate administrative and judicial proceedings. 

 16. Regarding the schedule set forth in Paragraph 11.A., Permittee acknowledges that 

Permittee is responsible for complying with that order regardless of the availability of any 

federal or state grant monies. 

 17. The terms of this MAO may be amended by mutual agreement of DEQ and 

Permittee. 

 18. DEQ may amend or terminate this MAO upon finding that such modification or 

termination is necessary because of changed circumstances or to protect public health and the 

environment.  DEQ shall provide Permittee a minimum of thirty (30) days written notice prior to 

issuing an order amending or terminating the MAO. If Permittee contests the order, the 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  12  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

applicable procedures for conduct of contested cases in such matters shall apply. 

 19. This MAO shall be binding on the parties and their respective successors, agents, 

and assigns. The undersigned representative of each party certifies that he or she is fully 

authorized to execute and bind such party to this MAO. No change in ownership or corporate or 

partnership status relating to the facility shall in any way alter Permittee's obligations under this 

MAO, unless otherwise approved in writing by DEQ. 

 20. All reports, notices and other communications required under or relating to this 

MAO to Randall Bailey, DEQ Northwest Regional Office, 700 NE Multnomah Street, Suite 600, 

Portland, Oregon 97232, phone number 503-229-5019, unless otherwise notified by DEQ. The 

contact person for Permittee shall be Sue Lawrence, Public Works Director, City of Rainier, 106 

West “B” Street, P.O. Box 100, Rainier, Oregon, 97048, phone number 503-556-7301. 

 21. Permittee acknowledges that it has actual notice of the contents and requirements of 

this MAO and that failure to fulfill any of the requirements hereof will constitute a violation of 

this MAO and subject Permittee to the payment of civil penalties pursuant to Paragraph 11.C. 

above. 

 22. Any stipulated civil penalty imposed pursuant to Paragraph 11.C. shall be due upon 

written demand. Stipulated civil penalties shall be paid by check or money order made payable to 

the "Department of Environmental Quality" and sent to:  Business Office, Department of 

Environmental Quality, 700 NE Multnomah Street, Suite 600, Portland, Oregon 97232. Within 

20 days of receipt of a "Demand for Payment of Stipulated Civil Penalty" Notice from DEQ, 

Permittee may request a hearing to contest the Demand Notice. At any such hearing, the issue 

shall be limited to Permittee's compliance or non-compliance with this MAO. The amount of 

each stipulated civil penalty for each violation and/or day of violation is established in advance 

by this MAO and shall not be a contestable issue. 

 23. This MAO shall terminate at the end of the day on the date the final compliance task 

in Paragraph 11.A. above is to be completed. However, Permittee remains liable for stipulated 



 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

PAGE  13  - MUTUAL AGREEMENT AND ORDER (Case No. WQ-M-NWR-2022-044) 
  

 

penalties for any violations of the MAO occurring during the period the MAO was in effect and 

demanded pursuant to Paragraph 11.C. 

 

     CITY OF RAINIER 
 
 
              
Date     Jerry Cole, Mayor 
     City of Rainier 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
and ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COMMISSION 

    
 
 
 
 
 

              
Date     Kieran O’Donnell, Manager 
     Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
     on behalf of DEQ pursuant to OAR 340-012-0170   
     on behalf of the EQC pursuant to OAR 340-011-0505 



 

Case No. WQ/M-NWR-2022-044                                                       
Attachment A Page 1   

ATTACHMENT A 
 

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONDENT'S CIVIL PENALTY 
PURSUANT TO OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 340-012-0045 

 
 
VIOLATIONS: Respondent violated ORS 468B.025(2) by the exceeding the TSS 

and BOD technology based effluent limits (TBELs) in its wastewater 
permit by 50% or more. 

 
CLASSIFICATION: These are Class I violations pursuant to OAR 340-012-

0055(1)(k)(A). 
 
MAGNITUDE: The magnitude of the violation is minor pursuant to OAR 340-012-

0135(2)(a)(C)(i) because Respondent’s effluent was diluted by a 
factor of 10 or more by the receiving stream. 

 
CIVIL PENALTY FORMULA: The formula for determining the amount of penalty of each 

violation is:  BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 
 
"BP" is the base penalty, which is $750 for a Class I, minor magnitude violation in the matrix 

listed in OAR 340-012-0140(4)(b)(A)(iii) and applicable pursuant to OAR 340-012-
0140(4)(a)(F)(i) because Respondent’s facility has a permitted flow of less than two million 
gallons per day.  

 
"P" is whether Respondent has any prior significant actions (PSAs), as defined in OAR 340-

012-0030(19), in the same media as the violation at issue that occurred at a facility owned 
or operated by the same Respondent, and receives a value of 10 according to OAR 340-012-
0145(2)(b) because Respondent has more than nine Class I equivalent violations stemming 
from Case Nos. WQ/M-NWR-2017-228 and WQ/M-NWR-2020-179. 

  
"H" is Respondent’s history of correcting prior significant actions and receives a value of 0 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(3)(c) because there is insufficient information on which to 
base a finding under paragraphs (3)(a) or (b).  

   
"O" is whether the violation was repeated or ongoing, and receives a value of 2 according to 

OAR 340-012-0145(4)(b) based on the following: 
 

• On the following dates, Respondent’s discharge exceeded the applicable TBEL:  
o October 28, 2021: daily maximum BOD loading (Class I violation) 
o October 2021: weekly average BOD loading (Class III violation) 
o October 2021: weekly average BOD concentration (Class II violation) 
o October 2021: monthly average TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o October 28, 2021: daily maximum TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o October 2021: monthly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o October 2021: weekly average TSS loading (Class I violation) 



 

Case No. WQ/M-NWR-2022-044                                                       
Attachment A Page 2   

 
o October 2021: weekly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o October 2021: monthly average TSS removal (Class III violation) 
o November 2021: monthly average TSS concentration (Class II violation) 
o November 2021: weekly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o December 20, 2021: daily maximum TSS loading (Class III violation) 
o December 2021: monthly average TSS concentration (Class II violation) 
o December 2021: weekly average TSS loading (Class III violation) 
o December 2021: weekly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o January 2022: monthly average TSS loading (Class II violation) 
o January 4, 2022: daily maximum TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o January 2022: monthly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o January 2022: monthly average TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o January 2022: weekly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o March 2022: monthly average TSS loading (Class III violation) 
o March 2022: monthly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o March 2, 2022: daily maximum TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o March 2022: weekly average TSS loading (Class II violation) 
o March 2022: weekly average TS concentration (Class I violation) 
o April 2022: daily maximum TSS loading (Class I violation) 
o April 2022: monthly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o April 2022: monthly average TSS loading (Class II violation) 
o April 2022: weekly average TSS concentration (Class I violation) 
o April 2022: weekly average TSS loading (Class I violation) 

 
• As set detailed above, Respondent experienced 30 total violations. DEQ is 

assessing a separate penalty only for the 19 Class I violations.  
 

• To arrive at “O”, DEQ divides the total number of violations by the number of 
violations penalized. Therefore, each assessed penalty represents 1.6 occurrences 
for an “O” factor value of 2.  

 
"M" is the mental state of the Respondent and receives a value of 4 according to OAR 340-012-

0145(5)(c) because Respondent’s conduct was negligent. The TSS and BOD limits are 
express conditions of Respondent’s permit. By failing to take necessary actions to comply 
with the limits, Respondent failed to exercise reasonable care to avoid the foreseeable risk a 
permit violation would occur.  

 
"C" is Respondent's efforts to correct or mitigate the violation and receives a value of 0 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(6)(f) because the violation or the effects of the violation 
could not be corrected or minimized.  

 
"EB" is the approximate dollar value of the benefit gained and the costs avoided or delayed as a 

result of the Respondent’s noncompliance. It is designed to “level the playing field” by 
taking away any economic advantage the entity gained and to deter potential violators from 
deciding it is cheaper to violate and pay the penalty than to pay the costs of compliance.  In 



 

Case No. WQ/M-NWR-2022-044                                                       
Attachment A Page 3   

this case, “EB” receives a value of 0 according to OAR 340-012-0150(4) because there is 
insufficient information on which to make an estimate under the rule. 

 
 
PENALTY CALCULATION:  Penalty = BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 

= $750 + [(0.1 x $750) x (10+0+2+4+0)] + $0 
 = $750 + [$75 x 16] + $0 

= $750 + $1,200 +$0 
 = $1,950 
 
ORS 468.140(2) states that each day of violation constitutes a separate occurrence of the offense. 
DEQ is assessing penalties only for the 19 Class I violations. The single occurrence violation 
penalty is therefore multiplied by 19 for a final civil penalty of $37,050. 
 



 

Case No. WQ/M-NWR-2022-044                                                       
Attachment B Page 1   

ATTACHMENT B 
 

FINDINGS AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONDENT'S CIVIL PENALTY 
PURSUANT TO OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE (OAR) 340-012-0045 

 
 
VIOLATIONS: Respondent violated OAR 340-041-0009(3) and ORS 

468B.025(1)(b) by discharging untreated sewage into the Columbia 
River.  

 
CLASSIFICATION: This is a Class I violation pursuant to OAR 340-012-0055(1)(b). 
 
MAGNITUDE: The magnitude of the violation is moderate pursuant to OAR 340-

012-0130(1), as there is no selected magnitude specified in OAR 
340-012-0135 applicable to this violation, and the information 
reasonably available to DEQ does not indicate a minor or major 
magnitude. 

 
CIVIL PENALTY FORMULA: The formula for determining the amount of penalty of each 

violation is:  BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 
 
"BP" is the base penalty, which is $6,000 for a Class I, moderate magnitude violation in the 

matrix listed in OAR 340-012-0140(2)(b)(A)(ii) and applicable pursuant to OAR 340-012-
0140(2)(a)(D).  

 
"P" is whether Respondent has any prior significant actions (PSAs), as defined in OAR 340-

012-0030(19), in the same media as the violation at issue that occurred at a facility owned 
or operated by the same Respondent, and receives a value of 10 according to OAR 340-012-
0145(2)(b) because Respondent has more than nine Class I equivalent violations stemming 
from Case Nos. WQ/M-NWR-2017-228 and WQ/M-NWR-2020-179. 

  
"H" is Respondent’s history of correcting prior significant actions and receives a value of 0 

according to OAR 340-012-0145(3)(c) because there is insufficient information on which to 
base a finding under paragraphs (3)(a) or (b).  

   
"O" is whether the violation was repeated or ongoing, and receives a value of 2 according to 

OAR 340-012-0145(4)(b) because there were more than one but less than seven occurrences 
of the violation. Respondent experienced three SSO events.  

 
"M" is the mental state of the Respondent and receives a value of 4 according to OAR 340-012-

0145(5)(c) because Respondent’s conduct was negligent. Respondent’s permit expressly 
prohibits uncontrolled overflows where wastewater is likely to escape into a water of the 
state. By failing to take necessary actions to prevent the SSOs from occurring, Respondent 
failed to exercise reasonable care to avoid the foreseeable risk a violation would occur.   

 



 

Case No. WQ/M-NWR-2022-044                                                       
Attachment B Page 2   

"C" is Respondent's efforts to correct or mitigate the violation and receives a value of 0 
according to OAR 340-012-0145(6)(f) because the violation or the effects of the violation 
could not be corrected or minimized.  

 
"EB" is the approximate dollar value of the benefit gained and the costs avoided or delayed as a 

result of the Respondent’s noncompliance. It is designed to “level the playing field” by 
taking away any economic advantage the entity gained and to deter potential violators from 
deciding it is cheaper to violate and pay the penalty than to pay the costs of compliance.  In 
this case, “EB” receives a value of 0 according to OAR 340-012-0150(4) because there is 
insufficient information on which to make an estimate under the rule. 

 
PENALTY CALCULATION:  Penalty = BP + [(0.1 x BP) x (P + H + O + M + C)] + EB 

= $6,000 + [(0.1 x $6,000) x (10+0+2+4+0)] + $0 
 = $6,000 + [$600 x 16] + $0 

= $6,000 + $9,600 +$0 
 = $15,600 
 
 



ATTACHMENT C

Page 1 of 5



ATTACHMENT C

Page 2 of 5



ATTACHMENT C

Page 3 of 5



ATTACHMENT C

Page 4 of 5



ATTACHMENT C

Page 5 of 5





1/9/2024

Kieran 
O'Donnell

Digitally signed by Kieran O'Donnell 
DN: cn=Kieran O'Donnell, o=DEQ, 
ou=OCE, 
email=kieran.odonnell@deq.oregon.gov, 
c=US 
Date: 2024.01.09 15:30:19 -08'00'



City Administrator Report 

April 1, 2024 Rainier Council Meeting 

 

Mayor Cole and Members of the Council, 

 

On February 27, I met with representatives of the Department of Land Conservation and 

Development about the city’s flood plain permitting process. I attended the organizational 

meeting of the library board’s writing group two days later. 

 

Along with Mayor Cole and Councilor Watson, I attended the March 4 ribbon cutting ceremony 

for the All About the Brisket food cart that recently opened. I participated in the Columbia 

County Jail Operating Citizens Advisory Committee meeting the following evening. 

 

The governor’s Regional Solutions team met with me at city hall March 7 and included 

representatives from several state agencies. We discussed paths forward and possible state 

assistance for the Fox Creek and Veterans Way projects. 

 

I attended the March 8 library board meeting and spent part of March 11 onboarding interim 

public works director Russ Reigel. On March 12, I submitted a Supplemental Environmental 

Project proposal to the Department of Environmental Quality.  

 

On March 13, Reigel, City Planner Skip Urling and I met with county officials to discuss the 

proposed Pacific Pride project in town.  

 

The library board’s St. Patrick’s Day murder mystery took place March 16. I served as host and a 

good time was had by all.  

 

Gustavo Guerrero Landros from Sen. Merkley’s office stopped by City Hall on March 19 to talk 

about the city’s priorities and challenges.  

 

Lastly, I attended the March 20 Rainier Chamber of Commerce board meeting and met with 

Barry Verrill from KLTV the following day.  

 

 

 

At Your Service, 

 

 

W. Scott Jorgensen, Executive MPA 

City Administrator 

 


	5 Bank Reconciliation- Jan 2024
	5 Budget Comparison- Jan 2024
	5 Budget Variance- Jan 2024
	5 CC 03042024 minutes
	5 CC 03182024 goal setting minutes
	5 Check Register- Jan 2024
	6a Rainer 2024
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Who Is E2C Corporation?  E2C, Corp. has a long history in event development, implementation and execution. We have developed inspired and designed successful gatherings for the past 45 years. Events have ranged from the Computer & Technology Show
	Slide 3: STARTING SOMETHING GOOD 2024
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Mitigate Risk and Reap the Rewards with E2C Corporation 
	Slide 6: E2C Corp agrees to:  1) Produce, operate, and execute all approved events by City of Rainer, OR including Rivertime in Rainer, OR a summer music series.   2) Pay all expenses related to the production and execution of Rivertime in Rainer, OR, and

	6b City of Rainier - Board Letter - 2023
	6b City of Rainier - Financial Report - 2023
	6c LETTER AGREEMENT Rainier 2023 operations
	7b City of Rainier Upfront MAO_WQ-M-NWR-2022-044
	7b City_of_Rainier_2022_044_MAO_Amendment_2
	8 City Administrator Report



